
Executive Committee  
May 28, 2025 | 3:30 p.m. 

 
 

  
Onsite: 

Greater Portland Transit District 
 114 Valley Street, Conference Room A | Portland, ME 04102 

 
Remote: 

Please click the link below to join the webinar: 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84875192800?pwd=xcuIxzxOU3zxOQCXprEUpbfBYSr639.1 

Passcode: 290666 | Webinar ID: 848 7519 2800 
    Phone: (646) 931-3860| Telephone participants: *9 to raise hand, *6 to unmute 

 
MEETING AGENDA 

 

AGENDA ITEM PRESENTER ACTION or 
INFORMATION 

1. Call Meeting to Order (3:30) 
Ed Suslovic, 
Board President 

N/A 

2. Public Comment (3:30-3:35) 
The Board of Directors welcomes public comments at this time for 
items not listed on this agenda at this time. For items listed on the 
agenda, the chair will allow members of the public to comment 
following the staff presentation. There is a three-minute time limit 
per speaker. (Comments will be paraphrased in meeting minutes) 

Ed Suslovic,  
Board President 

Information 

3. Meeting Minutes (3:35-3:35) 
Review and approve minutes from the April 23, 2025 Executive 
Committee Meeting.    

Ed Suslovic,  
Board President 

ACTION 

4. Executive Director’s Report  (3:35-3:45) 
The Executive Director will provide updates pertaining to Metro 
operations, service performance, external affairs and major 
projects and initiatives. 

Glenn Fenton, 
Executive Director 

Information 

5. Committee Reports (3:45-3:55) 
Committee liasons and chairs will provide a brief update on 
current items each committee is advancing. 

Ed Suslovic,  
Board President 

Information 

6. Revised DBE Goals (3:55-4:05) 
Staff will present revised DBE goals for the agency that incorporate 
South Portland’s service area. 

Shelly Brooks,  

Chief Financial 
Officer 

ACTION 

7. Advertising Policy (4:05-4:20) 
Staff will provide an update on a recent discussion with Metro’s 
legal team regarding possible changes to Metro’s advertising 

Glenn Fenton, 
Executive Director 

Information 

  

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/84875192800?pwd=xcuIxzxOU3zxOQCXprEUpbfBYSr639.1


 
 

2 
 

policy. 

8. Consideration of Nonprofit Advertisement (4:20-4:25) 
Staff will present an advertisement from a nonprofit seeking 
approval by Metro’s Executive Committee. 

Glenn Fenton, 
Executive Director 

Possible 
ACTION 

9. Executive Director’s Performance Evaluation (4:25-4:40) 
Board President will present the results of the Executive Director’s 
annual performance review.  
The committee may vote to enter into executive session pursuant 
to 1 MRSA Section 405 (6) (A) (1)to discuss the Executive Director’s 
performance evaluation. 

Ed Suslovic,  
Board President 

ACTION 

10. Future Agenda Items (4:40--4:45) 
• 2024 Financial Audit 
• Updated ADA Complaint Procedure 
• CIP Local Match Policy 
• Agency Strategic Planning 
• PACTS Initiatives and Reforms (Ongoing) 

Ed Suslovic,  
Board President 

Information 

11. Upcoming Meetings (4:40-4:45) 

• Finance Committee – June 4, 2025 at 4:00 pm 
• Executive Committee – June 18, 2025 at 3:30 pm 
• Board of Directors – June 26, 2025 at 4:00 pm 

Ed Suslovic,  
Board President 

Information 

12. Adjournment (4:45) Ed Suslovic,  
Board President 

ACTION 

 
As of November 9, 2022 Greater Portland METRO is holding meetings of the Board of Directors (and its 
committees) in hybrid format, both in person at METRO’s offices and via webinar. The remote portions of all 
meetings are conducted in accordance with the requirements of METRO’s Remote Participation Policy (adopted 
August 25, 2022) as well as LD 1772, PL 2022 Ch. 666, and 1 MRSA Chapter 13, Subchapter 1. 
 

https://gpmetro.org/DocumentCenter/View/1424


 

 
Greater Portland Metro Executive Committee 

Wednesday, April 23, 2025 
DRAFT Meeting Minutes  

Member: Municipality: Role: Status: 
Ed Suslovic Portland President Present 
Julie Dubovsky Yarmouth Vice President Present 
John Thompson Westbrook Secretary Present 
Paul Bradbury Portland Treasurer Absent 
Hope Cahan Falmouth Past President Present 
Lou Simms Gorham Non-voting Attendee Present 

 
Staff Present Identified Members of the Public 

Glenn Fenton, Executive Director  
Mike Tremblay, Director of Transit Development  
Chad Heid, Chief Transportation Officer  

 
 
I. The meeting was called to order by: Ed Suslovic at: 3:31 pm.  

 
II. Public Comment. 

No members of the public were present for this item. 
 

III. Approval of the March 26, 2025 Executive Committee meeting minutes. 
Hope Cahan moved to approve the March 26, 2025 Executive Committee meeting minutes, 
seconded by John Thompson. The motion was approved unanimously following a roll call vote. 
 

IV. Executive Director’s Report 
Glenn Fenton presented his Executive Director’s Report. He provided updates on various 
initiates that Metro staff are working on as well as a brief update on ridership performance over 
recent months. Ed Suslovic asked about the status of the recruitment of the new Director of 
Government Affairs position. 
 

V. Interagency Equipment Transfer 
Glenn Fenton presented a request to the committee for retro-active approval of the transfer of 
one rolling stock unit to Biddeford, Saco, OId Orchard Beach Transit. A motion to approve the 
the transfer was made by John Thompson, seconded by Julie Dubovsky, and approved 
unanimously following a roll call vote.  
  

VI. Executive Director’s Contract Revision 
Glenn Fenton presented a revision to the Executive Director’s contract to change the timeline 
for the annual review period.  A motion to approve the change in the contract was made by 



 
John Thompson, seconded by Julie Dubovsky, and approved unanimously following a roll call 
vote.  
 

VII. Executive Director’s Performance Evaluation 
Glenn Fenton provided an overview of the annual performance evaluation of the Executive 
Director. Ed Suslovic commented that he will be distributing a survey to Board Members to rate 
the performance of the Executive Director and will report back to the Committee at its May 
meeting. 
 

VIII. Future Agenda Items 
• 2024 Financial Audit 
• Executive Director’s Performance Review 
• Updated ADA Complaint Procedures 
• CIP Local Match Policy 
• Metro’s Advertising Policy 
• Agency Strategic Planning 
• PACTS Initiatives and Reforms (Ongoing) 

 
IX. Upcoming Meetings:  

• Market/Coms Committee – May 14, 2025 at 3:00 pm  
• Finance Committee – May 20, 2025 at 4:00 pm  
• Plan/Ops Committee – May 21, 2025 at 10:30 am  
• Advocacy Committee – May 21, 2025 at 4:30 pm  
• Executive Committee – May 28, 2025 at 3:30 pm  

 
X. Adjournment:  

John Thompson motioned to adjourn; Julie Dubovsky seconded. Meeting was adjourned at 4:13 
pm. 



 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM 6   
 

 

 
DATE  
May 28, 2025 
 
SUBJECT 
DBE Program and Goal Update- FFY 2025-2027 
 
PURPOSE 
Approve required revisions to Metro’s DBE Program related to updated requirements and 
revisions to Metro’s DBE goal established for FFY 2025-2027 related to the merger with the City 
of South Portland Bus Service. 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 

As a recipient of more than $650,000 in grant funding from the Federal Transit Administration 
(FTA), the Greater Portland Transit District (Metro) is required under 49 CFR Part 26 to establish 
and maintain a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program. This federal mandate is 
intended to ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of DOT-assisted 
contracts, create a level playing field for DBEs, and help remove barriers to the participation of 
disadvantaged firms. 

In accordance with this regulation, Metro must develop and submit a triennial DBE Goal and 
methodology. The revised DBE Goal for Federal Fiscal Years (FFY) 2025–2027 sets an overall goal 
of 1.59%, adjusted from the previously submitted 1.61% to reflect updated expenditure 
forecasts following the merger with South Portland Bus Service, effective December 29, 2024. 
The revised goal remains based solely on race- and gender-neutral measures. 

Summary of Updates in Attached Documents: 

1. DBE Program Update: Updates reflect the changes in the requirements of DBE programs, 
based on the final rule published on April 9, 2024. Summary information on the rule 
updated follow: 

Data Collection & Reporting 

• The Uniform Report, which captures contracting data, now collects information on 
individual DBEs and contracts 

• Recipients are required to submit their bidders' lists to DOT 

 



 
 

2 
 

• Unified Certification Programs (UCPs) are required to include more information on 
certification and decertification it their annual reports to DOT 

DBE Performance Plans on Design-Build Contracts 

• Prime bidders on race-conscious design-build contracts are allowed to submit a plan 
for subcontractor DBEs throughout the life of the project to meet their DBE goals 

• Prime bidders are no longer required to list all commitments at the bidding stage 

DBE Credit/Counting Updates 

• Includes clarifications and changes to how recipients and primes count DBE 
participation 

• Affects counting for regular dealers, material suppliers, distributors, manufacturers, 
and more 

Monitoring & Prompt Payment  

• Requirements for prompt payment and return of retainage have been clarified, and 
the language is stronger, but the requirements have not changed 

• DOT’s expectations for monitoring are codified 

https://www.transit.dot.gov/dbe 

2. Program Coverage Update: The updated program incorporates changes due to the 
merger of South Portland Bus Service into Metro, which affects projected contracting 
opportunities and DBE goal-setting. 

3. Revised DBE Goal: Updated from 1.61% to 1.59% based on revised estimated 
expenditures and minimal DBE participation potential in certain contracting categories. 

4. Methodology Adjustments: Adjustments were made to exclude outlier projects and 
ineligible expenditures (e.g., revenue-sharing agreements) that do not contribute to DBE 
participation. 

5. Vendor Outreach: Ongoing efforts were highlighted to encourage DBE certification 
among local vendors, although recent attempts were unsuccessful. 

Metro will continue to work with the Maine DOT, Eastern Maine Development Corporation, and 
local vendors to promote DBE participation and maintain compliance with federal requirements. 

FISCAL IMPACT 
Metro is required to establish and maintain a DBE Program as a recipient of FTA funds.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Approve DBE Program and Goal revisions for submission to FTA on June 1, 2025 
 
CONTACT 



 
 

3 
 

Shelly Brooks 
Chief Financial Officer 
(207) 221-8710 
sbrooks@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – 2025 DBE Program Recertification 2025-2027 
Attachment B – 2025 Org Chart 
Attachment C – 2025 DBE Goals Recertification 2025-2027 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

mailto:sbrooks@gpmetro.org


 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Program, 
 Goal and Goalsetting Methodology 

for Federal Fiscal Years 2025-2027 
 

May 15, 2024 
Revised June 1, 2025 

 
 
 

Prepared by: 
Greater Portland Transit District 

114 Valley Street 
Portland, ME 04102 

207.774.0351 
www.gpmetro.org 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

http://www.gpmetro.org/


 
 

Table of Contents 
POLICY STATEMENT ......................................................................................................................... 3 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS – Subpart A ............................................................................................. 4 

Section 26.1 Objectives.................................................................................................................... 4 

Section 26.3 Applicability ................................................................................................................. 4 

Section 26.5 Definitions ................................................................................................................... 4 

Section 26.7 Non-discrimination Requirements ................................................................................. 4 

Section 26.11 Record Keeping Requirements .................................................................................... 4 

Section 26.13 Federal Financial Assistance Agreement ...................................................................... 4 

ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS – Subpart B.................................................................................. 5 

Section 26.21 DBE Program Updates ................................................................................................ 5 

Section 26.23 Policy Statement ........................................................................................................ 5 

Section 26.25 DBE Liaison Officer (DBELO) ........................................................................................ 5 

Section 26.27 DBE Financial Institutions............................................................................................ 5 

Section 26.29 Prompt Payment Mechanisms..................................................................................... 5 

Section 26.31 Directory.................................................................................................................... 5 

Section 26.33 Overconcentration ..................................................................................................... 5 

Section 26.35 Business Development Programs ................................................................................ 6 

Section 26.37 Monitoring and Enforcement Mechanisms .................................................................. 6 

Section 26.39 Fostering Small Business Participation ......................................................................... 6 

GOALS, GOOD FAITH EFFORTS, AND COUNTING – Subpart C .............................................................. 8 

Section 26.45 Overall Goals.............................................................................................................. 8 

Section 26.49 Transit Vehicle Manufacturers Goals ........................................................................... 8 

Section 26.51(a-c) Breakout of Estimated Race-Neutral & Race-Conscious Participation ...................... 8 

Section 26.51(d-g) Contract Goals .................................................................................................... 9 

Section 26.53 Good Faith Efforts Procedures..................................................................................... 9 

Section 26.55 Counting DBE Participation ........................................................................................11 

CERTIFICATION STANDARDS – Subpart D .........................................................................................11 

CERTIFICATION PROCEDURES – Subpart E ........................................................................................11 

Section 26.89 Certification Appeals .................................................................................................12 

COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT – Subpart F ................................................................................12 

ATTACHMENTS...............................................................................................................................12 

 



 

 
 

POLICY STATEMENT 
The GPTD has established a Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) program in accordance with 
regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation (DOT), 49 CFR Part 26. The GPTD has received 
Federal financial assistance from the Department of Transportation, and as a condition of receiving this 
assistance, the GPTD has signed an assurance that it will comply with 49 CFR Part 26. 

 
It is the policy of the GPTD to ensure that DBEs are defined in part 26, have an equal opportunity to receive 
and participate in DOT-assisted contracts. It is also our policy: 

 
• To ensure nondiscrimination in the award and administration of DOT - assisted contracts; 
• To create a level playing field on which DBEs can compete fairly for DOT-assisted contracts; 
• To ensure that the DBE Program is narrowly tailored in accordance with applicable law; 
• To ensure that only firms that fully meet 49 CFR Part 26 eligibility standards are permitted to 

participate as DBEs; 
• To help remove barriers to the participation of DBEs in DOT assisted contracts; 
• To assist the development of firms that can compete successfully in the market place outside the DBE 

Program. 
 

The Chief Financial Officer has been delegated as the DBE Liaison Officer and is responsible for 
implementing all aspects of the DBE program. Implementation of the DBE program is accorded the same 
priority as compliance with all other legal obligations incurred by the GPTD in its financial assistance 
agreements with the Department of Transportation. 

 
GPTD has disseminated this policy statement to the agency’s Board of Directors and all of the components 
of our organization. 

 
We distribute this statement to DBE and non-DBE business communities that may perform work for us on 
DOT-assisted contracts by including it in procurement solicitations and in contracts, and by referencing 
the most recent DBE listing on an ongoing basis through our web site. 

 
 
_________________________________________________  _________________________ 

Glenn Fenton Date  
Executive Director  
 



 

 
 

GENERAL REQUIREMENTS – Subpart A 
 
Section 26.1 Objectives 
The objectives are found in the policy statement on the first page of this program. 

 
Section 26.3 Applicability 
The GPTD is a recipient of federal transit funds authorized by Titles I, III, V, and VI of ISTEA, Pub. L. 102240 or 
by Federal transit laws in Title 49, U.S. Code, or Titles I, II, and V of the Teas-21, Pub. L. 105-178. 

 
Section 26.5 Definitions 
The GPTD has adopted the definitions currently contained in Section 26.5 for this program regarding socially 
and economically disadvantaged individuals, and in any subsequent revisions to this Section. 

 
Section 26.7 Non-discrimination Requirements 
The GPTD will never exclude any person from participation in, deny any person the benefits of, or otherwise 
discriminate against anyone in connection with the award and performance of any contract covered by 49 CFR 
Part 26 on the basis of race, color, sex, or national origin. 

 
In administering its DBE program, the GPTD will not, directly or through contractual or other arrangements, use 
criteria or methods of selection that have the effect of defeating or substantially impairing accomplishment of 
the objectives of the DBE program with respect to individuals of a particular race, color, sex, or national origin. 

 
Section 26.11 Record Keeping Requirements 
Reporting to DOT: 26.11(b) 

 
GPTD will report DBE participation on a semi-annual basis through FTA’s Transit Award Management System 
DBE reporting module, providing all information as required at the time of reporting, and meeting the required 
deadlines. 

 
Bidders List: 26.11(c) 
The GPTD will utilize Maine DOT’s DBE list when soliciting bids for DOT-assisted contracts. The GPTD will also 
maintain a bidders list, consisting of information about all DBE and non-DBE firms that bid or quote on its DOT-
assisted contracts, to enable calculation of overall goals. We will collect this information by requiring prime 
bidders to report the names, addresses, DBE status and type of business of all firms included as subcontracts in 
their prime bid or quote. 

 
Section 26.13 Federal Financial Assistance Agreement 
GPTD has signed the following assurances, applicable to all DOT-assisted contracts and their administration: 

 
Assurance: 26.13(a) 
This language will appear in financial assistance agreements with sub-recipients:



 

 
 

GPTD shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, or sex in the award and 
performance of any DOT assisted contract or in the administration of its DBE Program or the requirements 
of 49 CFR Part 26. GPTD shall take all necessary and reasonable steps under 49 CFR part 26 to ensure 
nondiscrimination in the award and administration of DOT assisted contracts. GPTD's DBE Program, as 
required by 49 CFR part 26 and as approved by DOT, is incorporated by reference in this agreement. 
Implementation of this program is a legal obligation and failure to carry out its terms shall be treated as a 
violation of this agreement. Upon notification to the GPTD of its failure to carry out its approved program, 
the Department may impose sanction as provided for under part 26 and may, in appropriate cases, refer 
the matter for enforcement under 18 U.S.C. 1001 and/or the Program Fraud Civil Remedies Act of 1986 
(31 U.S.C. 3801 et seq.). 

 
Contract Assurance: 26.13b 
The GPTD will ensure that every DOT-assisted contract and subcontract will include language ensuring 
that the contractor, sub-recipient, or subcontractor shall not discriminate on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, or sex in the performance of this contract, and comply with all applicable requirements of 
49 CFR Part 26. Further, that failure by the contractor to carry out these requirements is a material breach 
of contract, which may result in the termination or such other remedy as GPTD deems appropriate. 

 
ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS – Subpart B 

 
Section 26.21 DBE Program Updates 
Since the GPTD annually receives FTA grant funds exceeding the minimum threshold for DBE 
administration, we will continue to carry out this program until all funds from DOT financial assistance 
have been expended. We will provide to DOT updates representing significant changes in the program. 

 
Section 26.23 Policy Statement 
The Policy Statement is elaborated on the first page of this program. 

 
Section 26.25 DBE Liaison Officer (DBELO) 
We have designated the following individual as our DBE Liaison Officer: 
 
Chief Financial Officer 
114 Valley Street 
Portland, ME 04102 
207-774-0351 
 
The DBELO is responsible for implementing all aspects of the DBE program and ensuring that the GPTD 
complies with all provision of 49 CFR Part 26. The DBELO has direct, independent access to the Executive 
Director, concerning DBE program matters. An organization chart displaying the DBELO's position in the 
organization is included as Attachment 1 to this program. 

 
The DBELO is responsible for developing, implementing and monitoring the DBE program, in coordination 
with other staff and officials.  The duties and responsibilities include the following: 

 
1. Gather and report statistical data and other information as required by DOT. 



 

 

2. Maintain records related to procurement processes and payments that support DBE reporting. 

3. Review third party contracts and purchase requisitions for compliance with this program. 
4. Work with all departments to set overall annual goals. 

5. Ensure that bid notices and requests for proposals are available to DBEs in a timely manner, and 
contain applicable language describing GPTD’s DBE efforts and goal. 

6. Analyze progress toward attainment and identify ways to improve progress. 

7. Participate in pre-bid meetings. 

8. Advise the Executive Director and Board of Directors on DBE matters and achievement. 
 

Section 26.27 DBE Financial Institutions 
It is the policy of the GPTD to investigate the full extent of services offered by financial institutions owned 
and controlled by socially and economically disadvantaged individuals in the community, to make 
reasonable efforts to use these institutions, and to encourage prime contractors on DOT-assisted contract 
to make use of these institutions. 

 
We have reviewed the Maine Unified Certification Program directory for purposes of identifying DBE 
financial institutions, and to date we have determined that no such institutions exist in the District’s area. 
As GPTD may issue future solicitations for financial services, we will review this directory for any updated 
information. 

 
Section 26.29 Prompt Payment Mechanisms 
The GPTD will include language in each DOT-assisted prime contract to ensure that the contractor agrees 
to pay each subcontractor for satisfactory performance of its work no later than thirty days from the 
receipt of each payment the prime contract receives from GPTD, and to release any retainage payments to 
each subcontractor within thirty days after the subcontractor’s work is satisfactorily completed. 

 
GPTD will verify prompt payment by requiring prime contractors to document that prompt payment and 
return of retainage is in fact occurring. GPTD will also follow up with subcontractors to ensure they are 
receiving prompt payments. 

 
Section 26.31 Directory 
The GPTD uses a directory maintained by the State of Maine’s Department of Transportation (Maine DOT) 
to identify all firms certified as eligible to participate as DBEs. This Directory is updated weekly and can be 
accessed at https://www.maine.gov/mdot/civilrights/dbe/ 

 
Section 26.33 Overconcentration 
GPTD has not identified that overconcentration exists in the types of work that DBEs perform for GPTD. 

 
Maine DOT analyzes overconcentration through periodic reviews by using the most updated DBE firm 
information and the most recent NAICS code information to compare DBE firms to all firms and a particular 

http://www.maine.gov/mdot/civilrights/dbe/


 

 

NAICS code. GPTD considers it efficient to rely on the results of this MDOT analysis to determine 
overconcentration in our area. GPTD will reevaluate for overconcentration every three years. 

 
Section 26.35 Business Development Programs 
Because of limited resources, the District has not established a business development program. However, 
MDOT partners with Eastern Maine Development Corporation to provide training and support to current 
and potential DBE vendors.  GPTD has limited resources to create a formal development program and 
relies on EMDC’s programs, along with encouraging any potential GPTD vendors to investigate 
certification through EMDC. 

 
Section 26.37 Monitoring and Enforcement Mechanisms 
The GPTD will take the following monitoring and enforcement mechanisms to ensure compliance with 49 
CFR Part 26. 

 
1. We will bring to the attention of the Department of Transportation any false, fraudulent, or dishonest 

conduct in connection with the program, so that DOT can take the steps provided in 26.109, as 
necessary. 

2. GPTD has available several remedies to enforce the DBE requirements contained in its contracts, 
including, but not limited to, the following: 

• Breach of contract action, pursuant to the terms of the contract; 

• Violation of the Maine Department of Transportation DBE Special Provision 105.10.1-6; 

• Violation of any provision of Maine Revised Statutes, Title 5, Chapter 155, Subchapter 1_A, Rules 
Governing the Competitive Bid Process; 

• GPTD legal and administrative proceedings that will lead to suspension or debarment from FTA 
pursuant to 49 CFR Part 26; 

• Enforcement action pursuant to 49 CFR part 31; 

• Prosecution pursuant to 18 USC 1001. 

3. We will also provide a monitoring and enforcement mechanism to verify that work committed to DBEs 
at contract award is actually performed by the DBEs. This will be accomplished by a combination of 
site visits and/or review of records of the contracted firm and any subcontractors. 

4. We will keep a running tally of actual payments to DBE firms for work committed to them through a 
prime or sub-contract award. 

5. The District will rely on the State of Maine to enforce any violations or abuse of the States Certification 
program. 

 
Section 26.39 Fostering Small Business Participation 
GPTD will take affirmative actions in an effort to structure race neutral contracting opportunities to 
facilitate competition by small businesses. GPTD will take all reasonable steps to eliminate obstacles that 
may preclude small business participation in procurements as prime contractors or subcontractors 
including unnecessary and unjustified bundling of contract requirements that may preclude small business 



 

 

participation in procurements as prime contractors or subcontractors. The District will administer the 
Small Business Participation program on a race neutral basis. 

 
Small Business Concern program participants will be required to show eligibility via (1) DBE certification in 
connection with the Maine Unified Certification Program; (2) SBA 8A certification or (3) documentation 
establishing participation as a registered Dynamic Small Business with SBA. Certified DBEs are presumed 
eligible to participate in the program. 

 
None of the provisions of this Section shall be interpreted to impose any geographic preferences or 
limitations and the program is open to all small business concerns regardless of their location. 

 
GPTD will use the following strategies to foster maximum opportunities for contract awards to small 
business: 

 
1. GPTD will evaluate each procurement need to determine opportunities for small business 

participation, based on prior experience with and current knowledge of available vendors. We will 
also rely on resources from MDOT and the SBA to identify small business vendors. Bids and RFPs will 
be issued to encourage participation by small business enterprises, both by issuing specifications 
directly targeted to individual small businesses of a particular discipline, or by including language in 
comprehensive specifications that encourages prime contact respondents to include small business 
sub-contractors when feasible. 

 
2. When approaching a project scope expected to have a value of $250,000 or less, the District will 

evaluate the opportunity to bid specific disciplines of work separately. This will be done based on 
recent procurement experience, assessment by A&E firm(s) and contractors of opportunities that may 
exist for small business participation as a subcontractor participant, and also by reviewing the MDOT 
DBE Directory referenced in 26.31. 

 
3. The District will include in any contract provisions a requirement that prime contractors affirmatively 

seek out small businesses as part of its subcontractor force. Prime contractors will be required to 
provide information with their bid that identifies the small businesses that will participate as 
subcontractors to include the scope(s) of work to be performed. 

 
4. The District will reach out to small businesses in an effort to make them aware of potential contracting 

and subcontracting in any major capital improvement project. Additional outreach will include: 
 

a. Placing contracting opportunities on the District website at:  http://www.gpmetro.org 

b. Advertise contracting opportunities in local newspapers and media; 

c. Send contracting opportunity notices directly to firms on our bidders list; 

d. Informing prime contractors of local small business subcontractors; 

e. Conferring and sharing small business availability information with other regional agencies; 

http://www.gpmetro.org/


 

 

f. GPTD will act as a resource to small businesses by providing information and referral services 
regarding the requirements to become Maine UCP and U.S. Small Business Administration 
certified, through web links and contact information, as well as direct communication with 
small businesses when possible. 

GOALS, GOOD FAITH EFFORTS, AND COUNTING – Subpart C 
 

Section 26.45 Overall Goals 
A description of the methodology to calculate the overall goal and the goal calculations can be found in 
Attachment 2 to this program. This section of the program will be updated triennially. 

 
In accordance with Section 26.45, the District will submit its triennial overall DBE goal to FTA, Region One 
on or before August 1 of the year specified by FTA. Overall goals will be effective with the October 1 federal 
fiscal year unless otherwise instructed. 

 
Before establishing the overall goal for each triennial period, GPTD will consult with organizations and 
individuals representing or directly working with women, minority, and general contracting communities 
in GPTD’s market area, including its own DBE contractors to obtain information concerning the availability 
of disadvantaged and non-disadvantaged businesses, the effects of discrimination on opportunities for 
DBEs, and the GPTDs efforts to establish a level playing field for the participation of DBEs. 

 
Following this consultation, we will publish a notice of the proposed overall goals, informing the public 
that the proposed goal and its rational are available for inspection during normal business hours at your 
principal office for 30 days following the date of the notice, and informing the public that you and DOT 
will accept comments on the goals for 30 days from the date of the notice. 

 
GPTD will publish this notice in a local newspaper and on its website. The notice will include instructions 
on how to provide input and comments. The draft program goals will be posted on the website. Our overall 
goal submission to DOT will include a summary of information and comments received during this public 
participation process and our responses. 

 
We will begin using our overall goal on October 1 following approval, unless we have received other 
instructions from DOT. If we establish a goal on a project basis, we will begin using our goal by the time of 
the first solicitation for a DOT-assisted contract for the project. 

 
Section 26.49 Transit Vehicle Manufacturers Goals 
GPTD will require each transit vehicle manufacturer, as a condition of being authorized to bid or propose 
on FTA-assisted transit vehicle procurements, to certify that it has complied with the requirements of this 
section. Alternatively, GPTD may, at its discretion and with FTA approval, establish project-specific goals 
for DBE participation in the procurement of transit vehicles in lieu of the TVM complying with this element 
of the program.  
 
GPTD’S Procurement Manual (pg. 22) also includes a requirement that a final award must be documented 
by completing the online FTA Vehicle Award Report online within 30 days of the award.    
 
 
Section 26.51(a-c) Breakout of Estimated Race-Neutral & Race-Conscious Participation 



 

 

GPTD’s DBE goal continues to be race neutral. There is no break out between a race-neutral and a race-
conscious goal. 

 
Section 26.51(d-g) Contract Goals 
The GPTD will use contract goals to meet any portion of the overall goal GPTD does not project being able 
to meet using race-neutral means, if there are sufficient contracting opportunities. GPTD will establish 
contract goals only on those DOT-assisted contracts that have subcontracting possibilities. We need not 
establish a contract goal on every such contract, and the size of contract goals will be adapted to the 
circumstances of each such contract (e.g., type and location of work, availability of DBEs to perform the 
particular type of work.) We will express our contract goals as a percentage of the total amount of a DOT- 
assisted contract. 
 
Section 26.53 Good Faith Efforts Procedures  
 
Demonstration of good faith efforts for Contract 
Goals (26.53(a) & (c)) 
The obligation of the bidder is to make good faith efforts. The bidder can demonstrate that it has done so 
by either meeting the contract goal or documenting good faith efforts.  

 
The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for determining whether a bidder/offeror who has not met the 
contract goal has documented sufficient good faith efforts to be regarded as responsive. We will ensure 
that all information is complete and accurate and adequately documents the bidder/offer's good faith 
efforts before we commit to the performance of the contract by the bidder/offeror. 

GPTD will establish a structured pre-award process to assess the eligibility of Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) suppliers for credit toward contract goals. For each DBE listed as a regular dealer or 
distributor, the agency will conduct a preliminary counting determination to verify its eligibility for 60% or 
40% credit, respectively, based on its demonstrated capacity and intent to perform as defined in § 
26.55(e)(2)(iv)(A), (B), and (C) and (e)(3). 

The agency will base this determination on the DBE supplier’s written responses to relevant inquiries and 
its affirmation that its subsequent performance of a commercially useful function (CUF) will align with the 
preliminary counting determination. If a DBE supplier does not affirm its ability to meet the required CUF 
standards, the agency will adjust the counting of such participation accordingly when evaluating the 
bidder’s good faith efforts toward meeting the contract goal. The bidder is responsible for ensuring that 
the DBE supplier's provided information is accurate and consistent with the counting determination 
The Chief Financial Officer is responsible for determining whether a bidder/offeror who has not met the 
contract goal has documented sufficient good faith efforts to be regarded as responsive. We will ensure 
that all information is complete and accurate and adequately documents the bidder/offer's good faith 
efforts before we commit to the performance of the contract by the bidder/offeror. 
 

 
Information to be submitted (26.53(b)) 
GPTD treats bidders' compliance with good faith efforts requirements as a matter of responsiveness. Each 
solicitation for which a contract goal has been established will require the bidders/offerors to submit the 
following information: 

 



 

 

1. The names and addresses of DBE firms that will participate in the contract; 

2. A description of the work that each DBE will perform; 

3. The dollar amount of the participation of each DBE firm participating; 

4. Written and signed documentation of commitment to use a DBE subcontractor whose participation it 
submits to meet a contract goal; 

5. Written and signed confirmation from the DBE that it is participating in the contract as provided in 
the prime contractor’s commitment and 

6. If the contract goal is not met, evidence of good faith efforts. 

 

 
Administrative reconsideration (26.53(d)) 
Within 10 days of being informed by GPTD that it is not responsive because it has not documented 
sufficient good faith efforts, a bidder/offeror may request administrative reconsideration. Bidder should 
make this request in writing to the following reconsideration official: 

 
Greater Portland Transit District 
Executive Director 
114 Valley Street 
Portland, ME 04102 
207-317-3020 
info@gpmetro.org 

 

The reconsideration official will not have played any role in the original determination that the bidder did 
not document sufficient good faith efforts. 

 
As part of this reconsideration, the bidder will have the opportunity to provide written documentation or 
argument concerning the issue of whether it met the goal or made adequate good faith efforts to do so. 
The bidder will have the opportunity to meet in person with our reconsideration official to discuss the 
issue of whether it met the goal or made adequate good faith efforts to do. We will send the bidder or a 
written decision on reconsideration, explaining the basis for finding that the bidder did or did not meet 
the goal or make adequate good faith efforts to do so. The result of the reconsideration process is not 
administratively appealable to the Department of Transportation. 
 
Good Faith Efforts on a Design-Build contract (26.53(e)) 
In design-build contracting, where project details are minimal at the time of solicitation, GPTD may 
establish a DBE participation goal that proposers must meet through the submission of an Open-Ended 
DBE Performance Plan (OEPP). The OEPP serves as a substitute for the DBE documentation required 
under paragraph 49 CFR 26.53 (b) for design-bid-build contracts. 

To be considered responsive, the OEPP must include: 

• A clear commitment to meeting the DBE participation goal. 

mailto:info@gpmetro.org


 

 

• Identification of subcontracting work or services, including projected dollar amounts, that the 
proposer will solicit DBEs to perform. 

• An estimated time frame for executing DBE subcontracts. 

Upon awarding the design-build contract, the GPTD will actively monitor and oversee compliance with the 
OEPP to ensure the design-builder is making good faith efforts to achieve the established goal. GPTD and 
the design-builder may agree to written modifications of the OEPP throughout the project's duration. 
Such modifications may include adjustments to the type of work DBEs will perform or revisions to the 
proposed schedule, provided that the design-builder continues demonstrating good faith efforts toward 
meeting the DBE goal. 

 
Good Faith Efforts when a DBE is replaced on a contract (26.53(f)) 
GPTD will require a contractor to make good faith efforts to replace a DBE that is terminated or has 
otherwise failed to complete its work on a contract with another certified DBE, to the extent needed to 
meet the contract goal. We will require the prime contractor to notify the DBE Liaison Officer immediately 
of the DBE's inability or unwillingness to perform and provide reasonable documentation. 

 
In this situation, we will require the prime contractor to obtain our prior approval of the substitute DBE 
and to provide copies of new or amended subcontracts, or documentation of good faith efforts. 

 
If the contractor fails or refuses to comply in the time specified, our contracting office will issue an order 
stopping all or part of payment/work until satisfactory action has been taken. If the contractor still fails to 
comply, the contracting officer may issue a termination for default proceeding. 

 
Section 26.55 Counting DBE Participation 
We will count DBE participation toward overall and contract goals as provided in 49 CFR 26.55. 

 
CERTIFICATION STANDARDS – Subpart D 

 
Section 26.61 - 26.73 Certification Process 
GPTD does not certify DBEs. It relies on the State of Maine, Department of Transportation for certifications 
through the Maine DOT Unified Certification Program. 

 
 

CERTIFICATION PROCEDURES – Subpart E 
 

Section 26.81 Unified Certification Programs 
GPTD is a member of the Maine DOT Unified Certification Program (UCP) by virtue of a signed agreement 
dated April 18, 2002. The UCP meets all of the requirements for DBE certification. The Maine DOT 
maintains an updated directory of firms certified as DBEs in accordance with 40 CFR Part 26. The directory 
is available electronically or by request, as a hard copy. 

 
Maine DOT will use the certification standards of Subpart D of Part 26 to determine the eligibility of firms 
to participate as DBEs in USDOT-assisted contracts. For information about the certification process or to 
apply for certification, firms should contact the Maine Civil Rights Office at: 
 



 

 

https://www.maine.gov/mdot/civilrights/dbe/ 
Maine Department of Transportation 
SHS 16 
Augusta, Maine 04333 
Tel: (207)624-3056 

 
Section 26.89 Certification Appeals 
Any firm or complainant may appeal a decision in a certification matter to DOT. Such appeals may be sent 
to: 

 
U.S. Department of Transportation 
Departmental Office of Civil Rights 
External Civil Rights Programs Division (S-33) 1200 
New Jersey Ave., S.E. 
Washington, DC 20590 
Phone: (202) 366-4754 
TTY: (202) 366-9696 
Fax: (202) 366-5575 

 
COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT – Subpart F 

 
Section 26.109 Information, Confidentiality, Cooperation 
GPTD will safeguard from disclosure to third parties and information that may reasonably be regarded as 
confidential business information, consistent with Federal, state, and local law. 

 
Notwithstanding any contrary provisions of state or local law, GPTD will not release personal financial 
information submitted in response to the personal net worth requirement to a third party (other than 
DOT) without the written consent of the submitter. 

 
Monitoring Payments to DBEs 
GPTD will require prime contractors to maintain records and documents of payments to DBEs for three 
years following the performance of the contract. Any authorized representative of the GPTD or DOT will 
make these records available for inspection upon request. This reporting requirement also extends to any 
certified DBE subcontractor. 

 
GPTD may perform interim audits of contract payments to DBE subcontractors to ensure that the actual 
amount paid to equals or exceeds the dollar amounts stated in the prime contractor’s schedule of DBE 
participation. GPTD may also require labor and material payment verification forms, signed by DBE 
subcontractors, be submitted with the prime contactor’s payment requests, and/or a final waiver of lien 
form signed by subcontractors to indicate they have received payment. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

 
Attachment 1 Organizational Chart 

Attachment 2 Overall Goal Calculation 

https://www.maine.gov/mdot/civilrights/dbe/


 

Executive Director 
Glenn Fenton

Chief Financial 
Officer (DBELO) -

(EEO Officer) 
Shelly Brooks

Procurement 
Manager

Frank Suszczynski

HR Manager 
Kim Watson

HR Generalist
Carmen Chabot

Payroll and 
Benefits Specialist

Recruiting 
Specialist Marilyn 

Smith (PT)

Accounting 
Manager

Allison Parker

Accounting Specialist
Mamadou Coulibaly 

Helene Roy (PT)

Cash Counting 
Assistant

PT (2)

Administrative 
Assistant 
(Vacant)

Chief Trans. Officer
Chad Heid

Operations 
Manager

Tom Ridge

Dispatchers (4)

Bus Operators (84)
Base Service (63)

ARPA (12)
So. Portland (9)

Non-CDL Driver (3)

Maintenance 
Manager
(Vacant)

Parts
Coordinator (1)

Fleet Mechanics 
(7.5)

Facilities Techs (2)

Fleet Care Techs & 
Bus Cleaners (5)

Safety/Training    
Manager (CSO) 
Jeremy Richard

IT Manager
Josh Crooker

Operations 
Assistant

Denise Anania

Transit Dev. 
Director

Mike Tremblay 

Marketing 
Manager

Denise Beck

Cust. Serv. 
Manager
(Vacant)

Customer Serv.
Reps (2)

Government/CR 
Relations Director 

(Vacant)

CSO reports directly 
to E.D. on Agency 

Safety Plan 



1 | Greater Portland Transit District (Metro) – FFY 2025-2027 Goalsetting Methodology 

GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT | METRO 
PROPOSED TRIENNIAL OVERALL GOAL AND GOALSETTING METHODOLOGY 

FOR FFY 2025-2027 

Proposed DBE Goal: 1.59% 

Effective: October 1, 2024 through September 30, 2026 

INTRODUCTION 

The Greater Portland Transit District (Metro) has established a Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise (DBE) program in accordance with regulations of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation (USDOT).   

Pursuant to 49 CFR Part 26 and USDOT official guidance, Metro has determined that its 
overall annual DBE attainment on Federal Transit Administration (FTA) funded projects 
for FFY 2025-2027 is 1.59% (the “Overall Goal”).  The Overall Goal will be obtained using 
race- and gender-neutral measures.  In establishing its Overall Goal, Metro has actively 
sought input from women, minorities, and the general contracting community.   

Metro is submitting a revised goal for the FFY 2025-2027 due to the merger of South 
Portland Bus Service and Greater Portland Transit District, effective December 29, 2024. 
Due to the merger, Metro has updated the estimated expenditures for the purposes of 
calculating the proposed DBE goal. The prior proposed goal submitted was 1.61%. The 
revised goal is 1.59%. The reduction in the goal is related to minimal increases in 
expenditure categories that have little or no DBE participation potential based on the 
analysis.  

This document describes in detail the process used by Metro to establish the Overall Goal. 

STEP 1. DETERMINING A BASE FIGURE 

As specified in 49 CFR 26.45(c), Metro calculated a percentage base figure reflecting the 
availability of DBEs relative to all businesses ready, willing, and able to participate on FTA-
assisted contracts in its local market area.  The base figure reflects a DBE participation level 
that Metro would expect in the absence of discrimination.   

Local Market Area 

Metro determined its local market area by reviewing the business locations of the 
contractors and subcontractors with which Metro does businesses and by considering where 
Metro spends the substantial majority of its contracting dollars.  Based on this information, 
Metro determined that its local market area encompasses the counties of Cumberland, 
Androscoggin, and York. 

Sources of Data 



2 | Greater Portland Transit District (Metro) – FFY 2025-2027 Goalsetting Methodology 

The number of ready, willing, and able DBEs and the total number of ready, willing, and 
able businesses in Metro’s market area were determined using the following verifiable 
sources of data: 

 Maine DOT DBE Directory (https://www.maine.gov/mdot/civilrights/dbe/).  The 
directory lists the firm’s name, address, phone number, date of most recent 
certification, and the type of work the firm has been certified to perform as a DBE.  
In addition, the directory lists each type of work for which a firm is eligible to be 
certified by using the most NAICS code available to describe each type of work.  The 
directory is housed and updated weekly online.  It is searchable by scope of work, 
and receives widespread distribution in hard copy at seminars, conferences, 
trainings, and other networking events.   www.maine.gov/mdot/civilrights/dbe/ 

 Census Bureau County Business Patterns (CBP) database.  County Business Patterns 
provides data on the total number of establishments by detailed industry for all 
counties in the United States. 

 Metro Bidders List.  Metro has created and maintained a bidders list based on 
vendors who routinely seek to work on USDOT-assisted contracts in METRO’s local 
market area.   

Calculation 

Metro used the Maine DOT DBE Directory and Census Bureau data, supplemented by its 
bidders list, to calculate a base figure, as shown in Figure 1, attached hereto.  Specifically, 
Metro calculated the relative availability percentage as follows: 

1. Metro determined the number of ready, willing, and able DBEs in its local market 
area from the Maine DOT DBE directory and supplemented this number with any 
additional DBE vendors on its bidders list who are available to perform USDOT-
assisted contracts.  Then, using the Census Bureau’s CBP database, Metro 
determined the number of all ready, willing, and able businesses available in its 
local market area that perform work in the same NAICS codes.  (See Figure 1, 
Columns A-E). 

2. Data from the CBP database was filtered for Metro local market area—the counties 
of Cumberland, Androscoggin and York—and for the NAICS codes categories set 
forth in Figure 1, Column B, which Metro determined are applicable for contracting 
opportunities. 

3. The CBP database, supplemented by Metro’s bidders list, identified a total of 4,795 
businesses ready, willing, and able to perform work in the above-described NAICS 
codes categories in Metro’s market area.  The most recent Maine DOT DBE directory, 
supplemented by Metro’s bidders list, showed 87 certified DBEs who are ready, 
willing, and able to perform work in these NAICS codes categories.   

4. To ensure that the base figure is as accurate as possible, Metro weighted its 
calculation of the relative availability of firms.  Specifically, Metro calculated the 

http://www.maine.gov/mdot/civilrights/dbe/


3 | Greater Portland Transit District (Metro) – FFY 2025-2027 Goalsetting Methodology 

ratio of DBEs to the total number of vendors (see Figure 1, Column F), and then 
multiplied this ratio by the ratio of contract dollars estimated to be spent on each 
category of NAICS codes (see Figure 1, Column H), to arrive at a weighted ratio for 
each category of NAICS codes (see Figure 1, Column I).  

5. By adding the weighted ratios for each NAICS codes category and reflecting the total 
as a percentage, Metro derived a base figure of 4.14% for the relative availability of 
DBEs in Metro’s local market area.  

 

Result 

Step 1 Base Figure = 4.14% 

STEP 2. DETERMINING IF ADJUSTMENT IS NEEDED 

As specified in Section 26.45, once the relative availability of ready, willing, and able DBEs 
in Metro’s local market area has been determined, it is necessary to examine additional 
evidence and, if appropriate, make adjustments to the base figure, to ensure that the DBE 
goal truly and accurately reflects the level of DBE participation Metro would expect absent 
the effects of discrimination.  Accordingly, Metro has considered and accounted for other 
evidence of conditions affecting DBEs, as set forth below, and determined that an 
adjustment to the Step 1 Base Figure is appropriate. 

After establishing the base figure, Metro considered available information of conditions 
affecting DBEs to determine whether any adjustment to the base figure would be needed to 
establish its new overall DBE goal for FTA-funded contracts.   

Factors Considered 

Past and Future Contracting Activity 

Metro examined the nature of contracting work anticipated for FFY 2025-2027.   The two 
primary areas of expected NAICS spending are construction related to bus stop 
improvements and architecture and engineering services related to a facility rebuild 
project in the CIP.  Otherwise, the activity and market conditions in Metro’s local market 
area have not substantially changed. 

Metro also reviewed this in relation to the prior triennial activity and DBE percentages, as 
shown in the table below.  As a small agency, one contract with a high DBE amount can 
significantly impact the percentage for that period, and the table shows that result.   

In periods where the percentage is much higher than the goal, it is often driven by a capital 
contract and not by consistent operating activity.  One of the prior periods includes a 
contract for Transit Signal Priority project, which included a certified DBE subcontractor, 
with a federal share of over $80,000. For the purposes of calculating an obtainable goal, 
Metro has removed this reporting period from the historical median calculation.  



4 | Greater Portland Transit District (Metro) – FFY 2025-2027 Goalsetting Methodology 

Additionally, Metro contracts with an outdoor advertising agency, who is also a certified 
DBE, for bus and shelter advertising.  However, the majority of the expenses incurred with 
this vendor are attributed to a revenue sharing contract, which is not allowable activity 
towards meeting the overall DBE goal. Therefore, expenses to this vendor as part of the 
revenue sharing agreement have been excluded from the goal calculation.  

Metro’s ability to meet DBE goals is attributable in large part to three DBE vendors that 
have consistent operating expense activity.  Metro’s actual DBE participation may be 
affected if the activity with these three consistent vendors changes, or if there is a change of 
scope, timing or funding for other major one-time projects.  

Prospective DBE Participation 

For many years, MDOT has hired Eastern Maine Development Corporation (EMDC), a 
community development and small business development agency, to administer its DBE 
Supportive Services Program.  Metro contacted the EMDC about their training and outreach 
programs and to determine any changes in the availability of DBE vendors who could likely 
provide the goods and services Metro uses in the course of its business.   EMDC training 
and events, which result in any new certified DBEs, are listed on the MDOT site that is 
updated weekly and is referenced by Metro.  Also, during the prior triennial period, Metro 
staff encouraged two businesses it contracted with to become certified as DBE.  One was 
women owned and another was women-minority owned.  However, neither opted to go 
through the certification process, at least yet. 

Metro has determined that no additional data exists that would help to better measure the 
percentage of work that DBEs would be likely to obtain.   Metro has concluded that and 
adjustment to the base figure is appropriate, and the Adjusted Figure below more 
accurately represents a level of DBE participation that Metro would expect absent 
discrimination. 

Calculation 

Metro determined that an adjustment based upon past and expected participation was 
appropriate, mitigated by the factors contributing to significant spikes. Metro followed the 
guidance set forth in USDOT’s Tips for Goal-Setting to average the Step 1 Base Figure with a 
figure which represents Metro’s median past participation, as follows: 

1. Metro determined the median past participation percentage based on the actual 
DBE participation during the two most recent DBE goal setting periods: 

2. Metro then averaged the historical median of 0.09% and 0.54% and the Step 1 Base 
Figure of 4.19% to arrive at an adjusted figure of 1.61%, representing a 1.31% 
increase over the last triennial period. 



5 | Greater Portland Transit District (Metro) – FFY 2025-2027 Goalsetting Methodology 

 

 

 

Result 

Adjusted Figure = 1.59% 

RACE-/GENDER-NEUTRAL AND RACE-/GENDER-CONSCIOUS SPLIT 

In accordance with federal regulations and USDOT guidance, Metro will strive to meet the 
maximum feasible portion of its proposed overall DBE goal by using race- and gender-
neutral measures.   

Based on information regarding awards and commitments to DBEs, certified DBEs received 
a median of 0.73% of the dollars on Metro’s FTA-funded contracts in FFY 2022-2024. 
 
Metro did not apply contract goals or any other race- or gender-conscious measures to any 
FTA-funded contracts that Metro or subrecipients awarded during that timeframe; thus, 
100% of DBE contractors and subcontractors were used on contracts without DBE goals. 
 
Metro currently has a broad range of race- and gender-neutral measures to encourage and 
facilitate DBE participation in its contracts, including:   

 Maintaining one-stop DBE certification with Maine DOT;  

 Publicizing EMDC’s web site and services to support Maine DBE businesses; 

 Utilizing Metro’s website and paid advertisements in newspapers and trade 
publications to encourage increased DBE participation; 

 Using pre-bid meetings in construction contracts; 



6 | Greater Portland Transit District (Metro) – FFY 2025-2027 Goalsetting Methodology 

 Maintaining a policy on race-neutral measures, and training Metro staff with respect 
to implementation; 

 Continuing administrative enforcement of prompt payments between prime 
contractors and subcontractors; 

 Providing consistent and accurate data collection of DBE participation; 

 Continuing to maintain Metro’s bidders list; 

 Providing timely updates to current DBEs on all bidding and subcontracting 
opportunities; and 

 Continuing to search Metro’s active vendor base for prospective new DBE 
participants and direct them to Maine DOT/EMDC resources and information in 
efforts to persuade them to become certified as DBEs. 

Although the DBE vendor base applicable to transit is small in Metro’s local market area, 
Metro continues to review the Maine DOT DBE registry and conduct outreach with 
individuals and organizations with direct contact with the DBE community for possible 
additions to its vendor base.   

Based on its levels and trends of past participation and its race- and gender-neutral 
measures, Metro projects that Metro will be able to meet 100% of its new overall DBE goal 
through race- and gender-neutral measures.  Accordingly, Metro projects that it will not 
need to utilize any race-conscious or gender-conscious measures to meet its proposed 
Overall Goal. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 

For additional information about this document or Metro’s DBE Program, please contact: 

Shelly Brooks, Greater Portland Transit District, 114 Valley Street, Portland, Maine, 04102 
Tel: (207) 774-0351 
Email: sbrooks@gpmetro.org  

 

mailto:sbrooks@gpmetro.org


 

7 | Greater Portland Transit District (Metro) – FFY 2022-2024 Goalsetting Methodology 

 
 



 

 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AND OUTREACH 

Metro is a small agency with limited resources, and as such Metro works in cooperation with 
MaineDOT’s efforts for public participation in establishing DBE goals.   As Maine’s only Unified 
Certification Program entity, MDOT has done extensive public outreach to ensure that eligible 
businesses are aware of the DBE Program.  Information on MDOT’s DBE program can be found at 
https://www.maine.gov/mdot/civilrights/dbe/ 
 
For many years, MDOT has hired Eastern Maine Development Corporation (EMDC), a community 
development and small business development agency, to administer its DBE Supportive Services 
Program.  EMDC has developed a website of resources and information to support women and 
minority owned businesses.  EMDC maintains a calendar of events to connect DBE business to 
local government work, and interested businesses to become DBE certified. 
https://www.mainedbe.com/ 
https://www.emdc.org/connect/events/ 
 
Metro has solicited input about its Overall Goal and goalsetting methodology by supplying this this 
draft to its most recent DBE vendors/subcontractors to receive feedback.  These vendors are: 
 1. ATA Outdoor Advertising 
 2. Schumacher Design 
 3. Casco Bay Cleaning 
 
No comments were received. 
 
Metro also solicited input from the EMDC to obtain their perspective on future DBE availability 
and to learn how they communicate with potential businesses about opportunities.  However, 
Metro has not received a response to this request.  
 
Finally, Metro has solicited input about its Overall Goal and goalsetting methodology by supplying 
this this draft to its regional partners to receive feedback.  These contacts included: 
 1. Biddeford Saco Old Orchard Beach Transit 
 2. Casco Bay Lines 
 3. Greater Portland Council of Governments 
 
 
In addition to this active consultation, GTPD’s Overall Goal and goalsetting methodology was 
posted on Metro’s website starting on April 7, 2025, along with a notice informing the public that 
the proposed goal and its rationale was available for viewing, and that Metro was accepting 
comments on the goal and rationale for 30 days from the date of the notice.  Metro also advertised 
the notice in a newspaper of general circulation in its market area.  (See Appendix A) Comments 
were accepted via email, phone, or in writing by regular mail.   

No comments were received. 

Finally, Metro’s Overall Goal will be posted on its website for the three-year term. 

 

https://www.maine.gov/mdot/civilrights/dbe/
https://www.mainedbe.com/
https://www.emdc.org/connect/events/


 

 

APPENDIX A 

PUBLIC NOTICE AND OUTREACH – PROPOSEDE GOAL AND GOALSETTING METHODOLOGY 

Newspaper Legal Ad 

 

NOTICE OF PUBLIC COMMENT PERIOD 
GREATER PORTLAND TRANSIT DISTRICT 

DBE Methodology and Goal for Federal Fiscal Years 2025 through 2027 
Greater Portland Transit District is updating its Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) 

Program and Goal for its Federal Transit Administration (FTA) funded projects for the Federal fiscal 
years 2025 through 2027, with a goal of 1.59%. 

Please review and provide any comments or input within the next 30 calendar days, or until May 
7, 2025.  Public comments will be taken via email, phone or regular mail, as detailed below.  The 
Document can be found on the GPTD website, www.gpmetro.org under Inside Metro, DBE Program 
and Goal. 
 

sbrooks@gpmetro.org 
207-221-8710 

Greater Portland Transit District 
Shelly Brooks, Chief Financial Officer 

114 Valley Street 
Portland, Maine, 04102 

 

 

http://www.gpmetro.org/


 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM 7   
 

 

 
DATE  
May 28, 2025 
 
SUBJECT 
Advertising Policy Review 
 
PURPOSE 
Review possible changes to Metro’s Advertising Policy for exterior advertising on the agency’s 
buses and bus shelters.  
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
In December 2020, Metro’s Board of Directors approved a revised Advertising Policy (Attachment 
A) for exterior advertising on the agency’s buses and bus shelters. The proposed policy limits 
allowable advertising to the following categories: 
 
1. Commercial Advertising. The advertisement promotes or solicits a commercial transaction 

concerning the sale, distribution, or availability of goods, services, or events for an 
advertiser’s commercial or proprietary interest. 
 

2. Governmental Advertising. The advertiser is the United States government, the State of 
Maine, or any of the member municipalities of Metro and the advertisement furthers or 
supports a specific governmental purpose. 
 

3. Metro-Endorsed Advertising. The advertisement is endorsed by the Metro Board of 
Directors pursuant to Article II.B.  

 
The policy prevents public service announcements and advertising requested by non-profit 
organizations on Metro’s equipment unless the Metro Board of Directors offers its endorsement. 
Metro’s endorsement of the advertisement allows the advertiser’s message to effectively fall 
under Metro’s rights under the governmental speech doctrine.  
 
Since the new policy was approved, Metro’s advertising contract (ATA Outdoor) has received 
requests from several agencies to continue or commence advertising all of which do not comply 
with the Metro’s Advertising Policy. Specifically, nonprofit organizations have been denied access 
to advertising.  
 

 



 
 

2 
 

In the interest of meeting Metro’s budgeted revenue amount from advertising, staff have 
consulted with Metro’s legal counsel (Drummond Woodsum) about relaxing Metro’s advertising 
policy to allow for nonprofits to advertise on Metro buses and bus shelters. Drummond Woodsum 
staff strongly discouraged staff from changing Metro’s Advertising Policy saying in part; 
“Advertising policies raise a host of First Amendment concerns, and your current policy was 
redrafted to address some very sensitive issues a few years back.  I would advise against expanding 
the policy to allow nonprofit messaging”. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Based on the estimates for Metro’s advertising vendor (ATA Outdoor), Metro stands to lose 
between $15,000 and $50,000 annually in advertising revenue from nonprofit organizations. 
 
Through April 2025, Metro is at 6.1% of budgeted advertising revenue (on budget would be 
33.3%). It should be noted that due to timing some advertising revenue contract for the beginning 
of 2025 may not have posted as revenue yet.   
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Based on the feedback from Drummond Woodsum, it would not be prudent to change Metro’s  
Advertising Policy at this time. Staff’s recommendation is to retain the existing policy as written. 
 
In order to maximize advertising revenue while following Metro’s Advertising Policy, staff 
recommend presenting the Executive Committee with the opportunity to endorse certain very 
low risk advertisements, such as credit unions and universities. Per the Advertising Policy, 
noncompliant advertising campaigns will undergo two reviews before being presented to the 
Executive Committee for review. First ATA Outdoor staff will review advertising materials for 
potential conflicts. If ATA confirms that a noncompliant ad campaign is low risk it will be submitted 
to Metro staff for further review. If Metro staff agree that the advertiser and advertisement are 
low risk, only then will the ad campaign be submitted to the Executive Committee for review and 
endorsement. 
 
CONTACT 
Glenn Fenton 
Executive Director 
(207) 517-3025 
gfenton@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Metro Advertising Policy 
 

mailto:gfenton@gpmetro.org


 

METRO ADVERTISING POLICY 
 

Article I.  Applicability; Purpose  

This Advertising Policy applies to all advertisements proposed to be displayed in or on any METRO buses, 
vans, shelters, bus stops, and other transit facilities (collectively, “METRO Transit Facilities”) on or after 
the Effective Date. 

The operations of Greater Portland Transit District (METRO) are funded by a combination of federal, state, 
and local funds, including fare revenues. Advertising revenues are an important supplemental source of 
revenue that is a part of METRO’s operating budget and supports its transit operations. Revenues derived 
from advertising also reduce the local assessments for its member municipalities.  METRO’s purpose in 
allowing paid advertising to be displayed on or in METRO Transit Facilities is to maximize such 
supplemental revenue to support its operations without adversely affecting its ridership numbers or 
quality. 

The purpose of this Advertising Policy is to establish uniform, reasonable, and viewpoint-neutral standards 
and procedures that are consistently applied in determining the acceptability of proposed advertising on 
or in METRO Transit Facilities. 

Article II.  Nonpublic Forum; METRO as Proprietor; METRO’s Speech Not Restricted 

A. Nonpublic Forum; METRO as Proprietor.  

METRO Transit Facilities constitute nonpublic forums that are subject to the viewpoint-neutral 
restrictions set forth in this Advertising Policy. Nothing contained in this Advertising Policy or its 
implementation by METRO, its employees, officers, or agents (including without limitation its 
Advertising Contractor) is intended or shall be construed to create, designate, or use METRO 
Transit Facilities as a public forum for expressive activities or general discourse.  

By accepting advertising for display in or on METRO Transit Facilities, METRO is acting in a 
proprietary capacity as a provider of public transportation seeking to maximize advertising 
revenue to support its operations.  In furtherance thereof, METRO limits the advertisements it 
will accept for display in or on METRO Transit Facilities in accordance with the provisions of this 
Advertising Policy. 

B. METRO’s Speech Not Restricted.  

Notwithstanding the Advertising Standards in Article III, METRO has the unqualified right to 
display in or on METRO Transit Facilities, and to prioritize the display of, (i) informational notices 
concerning METRO operations, services, or promotions; (ii) cross-promotional material; 1  and 
(iii) any advertisement that is procured or endorsed by the METRO Board of Directors, including 
without limitation commercial advertising, governmental advertising, and public service 
announcements.  For purposes of this Advertising Policy, a vote by a majority of the METRO Board 

 
1 “Cross-promotional material” means an advertisement that concerns a cooperative partnership in which 
one or more entities works together with METRO with the goal of jointly promoting their respective goods, 
services, events, or messages. 



2 

of Directors present and voting to approve or support an advertisement constitutes an 
endorsement. 

Article III.  Advertising Standards 

A. Permitted Advertising.  METRO will accept for display on or in any METRO Transit Facilities paid 
or unpaid advertisement that falls within one or more of the following categories: 

1. Commercial Advertising. The advertisement promotes or solicits a commercial 
transaction concerning the sale, distribution, or availability of goods, services, or events 
for an advertiser’s commercial or proprietary interest. 

2. Governmental Advertising. The advertiser is the United States government, the State of 
Maine, or any of the member municipalities of METRO and the advertisement furthers or 
supports a specific governmental purpose. 

3. METRO-Endorsed Advertising.  The advertisement is endorsed by the METRO Board of 
Directors pursuant to Article II.B. 

B. Prohibited Advertising.  Notwithstanding Article III.A, METRO will not accept for display on or in 
any METRO Transit Facilities any advertisement that falls within one or more of the following 
categories, unless such advertisement is endorsed by the METRO Board of Directors pursuant to 
Article II.B: 

1. Non-Commercial Matter. The advertisement does not promote or solicit a commercial 
transaction concerning the sale, distribution, or availability of goods, services, or events 
for an advertiser’s commercial or proprietary interest. 

2. Adult Entertainment.  The advertisement promotes or contains images, copy, or concepts 
associated with adult entertainment establishments or sexually oriented goods or 
services, including but not limited to adult book stores, video stores, dance clubs, 
telephone services, internet sites, films (including X-rated or NC-17 rated films), video 
games, and escort services. 

3. Alcohol, Tobacco, and Cannabis. The advertisement (i) depicts alcohol, tobacco or 
tobacco-related products, or cannabis or cannabis-related products; (ii) simulates 
drinking, smoking, vaping, or ingesting of alcohol, tobacco or tobacco-related products, 
or cannabis or cannabis-related products; (iii) promotes events related to alcohol, 
tobacco or tobacco-related products, or cannabis or cannabis-related products; or 
(iv) otherwise promotes the use or sale of alcohol, tobacco or tobacco-related products, 
or cannabis or cannabis-related products.  

4. Demeaning, Defamatory, or Disparaging Content. The advertisement contains images, 
copy, or concepts that demean or disparage any individual or group or is libelous. 

5. False, Misleading, or Deceptive Content. The advertisement is false, misleading, or 
deceptive. 

6. Firearms. The advertisement contains images, copy, or concepts of guns or firearms. 

7. Unlawful or Illegal Conduct, Goods, or Services. The advertisement contains images, copy, 
or concepts that promote or encourage, or appear to promote or encourage, unlawful or 



3 

illegal conduct (including without limitation infringement of copyright) or the use or 
possession of unlawful or illegal goods or services. 

8. METRO’s Endorsement. The advertisement contains images, copy, or concepts that 
inaccurately state or imply METRO’s endorsement of the subject of the advertisement.  

9. METRO’s Interests. The advertisement contains images, copy, or concepts that 
(i) encourage or depict unsafe behavior with respect to METRO’s transit operations; 
(ii) are directly adverse to the commercial, administrative, or proprietary interests of 
METRO; or (iii) METRO reasonably foresees would incite or provoke violence or would 
otherwise result in harm to, disruption of, or interference with METRO’s transit systems 
or services. 

10. Prurient Sexual Suggestiveness. The advertisement contains images, copy, or concepts 
that describe, depict, or simulate sexual activities, or aspects of the human anatomy in a 
way that the average adult, applying contemporary community standards, would find 
appeals to the prurient interest of minors or adults in sex. 

11. Violence. The advertisement contains images, copy, or concepts of graphic violence, 
including without limitation: (i) the depiction of human or animal bodies or body parts, or 
fetuses, in states of mutilation, dismemberment, decomposition, or disfigurement; or 
(ii) the depiction of weapons or other implements or devices used in the advertisement 
in an act of violence or harm on a person or animal. 

12. Vulgarity or Obscenity. The advertisement contains images, copy, or concepts that are 
obscene, vulgar, crude, sexually suggestive, indecent, profane, or scatological.  

C. Sponsorship Disclaimer.  METRO reserves the right to require that any advertisement accepted 
for display on or in METRO Transit Facilities include a statement of sponsorship (“This message is 
sponsored by ______”) and/or a disclaimer indicating that the advertisement is not sponsored by 
METRO and does not constitute an express or implied endorsement of its content, viewpoint, or 
the advertising sponsor. 

Article IV.  Review of Proposed Advertisement 

For purposes of this Article IV, “Advertising Contractor” means the advertising agency or firm retained by 
METRO to solicit, review, and publish approved commercial advertising on METRO Transit Facility.  
“Contract Administrator” means the METRO General Manager or designee. 

A. Initial Review by Advertising Contractor. The Advertising Contractor will initially review each 
advertisement submitted for display or in METRO Transit Facilities to determine whether the 
advertisement complies with the Advertising Standards in Article III.  If the Advertising Contractor 
determines that advertisement complies with the Advertising Standards, the Advertising 
Contractor may display the advertisement pursuant to the separate terms of its agreement with 
METRO. If the Advertising Contractor determines that advertisement does not, or may not, 
comply with the Advertising Standards, the Advertising Contractor will promptly forward to the 
Contract Administrator the proposed advertisement, name of the advertiser, size and number of 
proposed advertisements, proposed dates and locations of displays, and the reason for the 
Advertising Contractor’s determination that the proposed advertisement does not, or may not, 
comply with the Advertising Standards. 



4 

B. Review by Contract Administrator. Upon the Contract Administrator’s receipt of the 
advertisement and supporting information, the Contract Administrator will review the 
advertisement and supporting information to determine whether the advertisement complies 
with the Advertising Standards. In reaching this determination, the Contract Administrator may 
consider any materials submitted by the advertiser and may consult with the advertiser, 
Advertising Contractor, and METRO’s general counsel. If the Contract Administrator determines 
that the advertisement does not comply with the Advertising Standards, the Contract 
Administrator will so advise the Advertising Contractor of the determination in writing, who will 
in turn notify the advertiser.  The determination of the METRO Contract Administrator is final. 

C. Opportunity for Revision by Advertiser. If the Contract Administrator determines that the 
advertisement does not comply with the Advertising Standards, the Advertising Contractor may, 
in consultation with the Contract Administrator, discuss with the advertiser revisions to the 
advertisement to try to bring the advertisement into conformity with the Advertising Standards, 
and the advertiser may submit a revised advertisement for review.   

D. Removal of Non-Complying Advertisements. Notwithstanding the foregoing Sections A, B, and C, if 
the Contract Administrator determines at any time that an advertisement accepted for display by 
the Advertising Contractor does not comply with the Advertising Standards, the Contract 
Administrator will notify the advertiser in writing of the determination and direct the Advertising 
Contractor to remove the advertisement. Upon such instruction, the Advertising Contractor will 
promptly remove the advertisement, will provide the advertiser with a copy of this Advertising 
Policy, and may, with the Contract Administrator, discuss with the advertiser revisions to the 
advertisement which, if undertaken, would bring the advertisement into conformity with the 
Advertising Standards. The advertiser will then have the option of submitting a revised 
advertisement for review. If METRO and the advertiser do not reach agreement with regard to a 
revision of the advertisement, the METRO Contract Administrator will issue a final written notice 
of its decision, which will then be relayed to the advertiser. The determination of the Contract 
Administrator is final. 

Article V.  Miscellaneous 

A. Severability.  If any portion of this Advertising Policy is declared invalid by a court of competent 
jurisdiction, such portion shall be deemed severable and shall not affect the validity of the 
remaining portions of this Advertising Policy, which shall continue in full force and effect. 

B. Effective Date.  This Advertising Policy is effective as of December 18, 2020 in accordance with 
approval by the Board of Directors. 



 

 

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AGENDA ITEM 8   
 

 

 
DATE  
May 28, 2025 
 
SUBJECT 
Advertisement Review 
 
PURPOSE 
Review Advertisement for TruChoice Federal Credit Union 
 
BACKGROUND/ANALYSIS 
Per Metro’s Advertising Policy the Board of Directors may choose to approve any advertisement 
that is not compliant with Metro’s advertising policy. Article II, section B provides this option: 
  
B. METRO’s Speech Not Restricted.  
 
Notwithstanding the Advertising Standards in Article III, METRO has the unqualified right to display 
in or on METRO Transit Facilities, and to prioritize the display of, (i) informational notices 
concerning METRO operations, services, or promotions; (ii) cross-promotional material;1 and (iii) 
any advertisement that is procured or endorsed by the METRO Board of Directors, including 
without limitation commercial advertising, governmental advertising, and public service 
announcements. For purposes of this Advertising Policy, a vote by a majority of the METRO Board 
of Directors present and voting to approve or support an advertisement constitutes an 
endorsement. 
 
TruChoice Federal Credit Union has proposed to run two “king kong” wraps (king kong wraps 
occupy the space between the front and rear wheels on transit buses) and one rear wrap. The 
advertisements are proposed to run for four months each. Images of the advertisements are in 
Attachment A. 
 
Metro’s advertising vendor (ATA Outdoor) has reviewed the proposed advertisement and believes 
that the advertisement is noncontroversial and recommends to Metro Staff that the 
advertisement be brought to Metro’s Executive Committee for approval. Staff concur with ATA’s 
assessment and as such are presenting it to the Executive Committee for approval on behalf of 
the full board of directors. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT 
Gross revenue for this advertising contract is $17,500.  

 



 
 

2 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION 
Approve the advertisement by TruChoice Federal Credit Union (motion attached). 
 
CONTACT 
Glenn Fenton 
Executive Director 
(207) 517-3025 
gfenton@gpmetro.org 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Attachment A – Proofs of TruChoice Federal Credit Union Advertisement 
Attachment B- Motion to approve TruChoice Federal Credit Union Advertisement 

mailto:gfenton@gpmetro.org







	Executive Committee Agenda 05-28-2025
	Item 3 - Executive Committee DRAFT Meeting Minutes 04-23-25
	Item 6 - DBE Program and Goal Update- FFY 2025-2027
	Summary of Updates in Attached Documents:
	Data Collection & Reporting
	DBE Performance Plans on Design-Build Contracts
	DBE Credit/Counting Updates
	Monitoring & Prompt Payment


	Item 6 - Attachement A- 2025 DBE Program Recertification 2025-2027- Proposed for Submission to FTA
	POLICY STATEMENT
	GENERAL REQUIREMENTS – Subpart A
	Section 26.1 Objectives
	Section 26.3 Applicability
	Section 26.5 Definitions
	Section 26.7 Non-discrimination Requirements
	Section 26.11 Record Keeping Requirements
	Section 26.13 Federal Financial Assistance Agreement
	ADMINISTRATIVE REQUIREMENTS – Subpart B
	Section 26.21 DBE Program Updates
	Section 26.23 Policy Statement
	Section 26.25 DBE Liaison Officer (DBELO)
	Section 26.27 DBE Financial Institutions
	Section 26.29 Prompt Payment Mechanisms
	Section 26.31 Directory
	Section 26.33 Overconcentration
	Section 26.35 Business Development Programs
	Section 26.37 Monitoring and Enforcement Mechanisms
	Section 26.39 Fostering Small Business Participation
	GOALS, GOOD FAITH EFFORTS, AND COUNTING – Subpart C
	Section 26.45 Overall Goals
	Section 26.49 Transit Vehicle Manufacturers Goals
	Section 26.51(a-c) Breakout of Estimated Race-Neutral & Race-Conscious Participation
	Section 26.51(d-g) Contract Goals
	Section 26.53 Good Faith Efforts Procedures
	Section 26.55 Counting DBE Participation
	CERTIFICATION STANDARDS – Subpart D
	CERTIFICATION PROCEDURES – Subpart E
	Section 26.89 Certification Appeals
	COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT – Subpart F
	ATTACHMENTS

	Item 6 - Attachement B- 2025 Org Chart
	Item 6 - Attachement C- 2025 DBE Goals Recertification 2025-2027- Proposed for Submission to FTA
	Item 7 - Advertising Policy
	Item 7 - Attachment A (METRO Advertising Policy)
	Item 8 - Nonprofit Advertisement Review
	Item 8  - Attachment A TruChoice_2025_BrandCampaign_Portland-KingKong-BusWrap
	Item 8 - Attachment A TruChoice_2025_BrandCampaign_Portland-RearWrap-BusWrap (1)
	Item 8 - Attachment A TruChoice_2025_BrandCampaign_Portland-RearWrap-BusWrap (2)

